## AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS PHILADELPHIA SECTION BYLAWS Revisions approved 05/13/2011

## Article 1: General

**1.1** Use of Name and Marks. The use and publication of the Society and Section name and marks shall be in accordance with the Society's governing documents and official policies.

## Article 2: Area and Membership

Not used.

## Article 3: Separation from Membership

Not used.

## Article 4: Dues

**4.1** Annual Dues. Annual dues for members of the Philadelphia Section shall be <u>\$40</u> dollars payable in U.S. currency in advance of January 1st of the Section Year for each Section Member who has been assigned to this Section by the Society or designate thereof. Annual dues shall be due on October 1 of the Section Year for each Section Member who has not been assigned to this Section by the Society or designate thereof.

**4.2** *Raising Dues.* The dues of the Philadelphia Section will be set by the Section Board, exclusive of Institute Chapters membership fees. An affirmative two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the Section Board shall be required to raise dues. Dues may be paid directly to the Section Treasurer or in conjunction with annual dues of the American Society of Civil Engineers.

## Article 5: Management

**5.1** *Duties of the Board of Directors.* Duties of the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors shall include management of the Philadelphia Section, responsibility for the budget and financial resources, strategic planning, providing leadership, overseeing the various activities within the Philadelphia Section and its subsidiary organizations, communicating with the Region, and facilitating the election process for Officers and Directors of the Philadelphia Section and its subsidiary organizations. The Board of Directors shall have control of property of the Philadelphia Section.

**5.2** Annual Report. The Board of Directors shall oversee the preparation of the Annual Report which shall be submitted to the Society in accordance with published requirements.

## **Article 6: Officers and Directors**

**6.1** Officers. The Officers of the Philadelphia Section shall be elected by the Subscribing Members, with the exception of the President. The President-Elect shall automatically succeed to the office of President at the close of the Annual Meeting.

**6.2** *Directors.* The Directors of the Philadelphia Section shall be elected by the Subscribing Members.

**6.3** *Terms*. The terms of Officers and Directors shall begin at the close of the Annual Meeting at which they are elected and installed, and shall continue until their successors are duly elected or appointed.

**6.3.1** *Executive Terms.* The term of office for the President, President-Elect, Vice President, and Branch President shall be one year.

**6.3.2** Secretary Terms. The term of office for the Secretary and for the Membership Secretary shall be two years, commencing in May of even numbered years if elected to said position or for the remainder of the Section Year if appointed to fill a vacancy. If an election is held in an odd numbered year to fill a vacancy in the office of Secretary or Membership Secretary, the term of such office shall be one year.

**6.3.3** *Treasurer Term.* The term of office for the Treasurer shall be two years, commencing in May of odd numbered years if elected to said position or for the remainder of the Section Year if appointed to fill a vacancy. If an election is held in an even numbered year to fill a vacancy in the office of Treasurer, the term of such office shall be one year.

**6.3.4** *Director Terms.* Section Directors shall be elected to serve a two year term. Three (3) of the six (6) Section Directors shall be elected in even-numbered years, and the other three (3) Section Directors shall be elected in odd-numbered years. A Section Director appointed to fill a vacancy during the first year of the two year term shall serve for only the remainder of the Section year, with the Section Director elected to serve a one year term as part of the next annual Section election.

## 6.4 Vacancies.

**6.4.1** *President.* A vacancy in the office of President shall be filled by the President-Elect for the remainder of the unexpired term, leaving vacant the office of President-Elect. In the event that the offices of President and President-Elect shall simultaneously become vacant, the office of President shall be filled by the Vice President. In the event that the offices of President-Elect and Vice President shall simultaneously become vacant, the office of President shall be filled by appointment of the Section Board for the remainder of the unexpired term.

**6.4.2** *President-Elect.* A vacancy in the office of President-Elect shall remain vacant for the remainder of the Section Year.

**6.4.3** *Vice President.* A vacancy in the office of Vice President shall remain vacant for the remainder of the Section Year.

**6.4.4** *Director.* A vacancy in the office of Section Director shall be filled by appointment by the Section Board for the remainder of the Section Year. A vacancy in any other office shall be filled by appointment by the Section Board for the remainder of the Section Year.

**6.5** *Limitation on Terms.* There are no limitations on the number of terms for which an individual may serve in an elected office of the Philadelphia Section.

**6.6** *Reimbursement.* Officers and Directors do not receive compensation for their services, but may be reimbursed for authorized expenses.

## **6.7** Duties of Officers and Directors

**6.7.1** Attendance at Board Meetings. All members of the Board of Directors shall attend all meetings of the Section Board and be active in general Section meetings and other Section activities.

## 6.7.2 President

**6.7.2.1** *General.* The President is the Chief Executive Officer and shall have general supervision over the affairs of the Philadelphia Section. The President shall preside at meetings of the Philadelphia Section and the Section Board and shall be an ex officio member of all committees. In the absence of the President, the President-Elect shall perform the duties of the President. In the absence of the President and President-Elect, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the President shall perform the duties of the President.

**6.7.2.2** *Committee Appointments.* The President, with the approval of the Section Board, shall appoint committee members to the Section's standing committees, including appointing the Membership Database Chair and the Newsletter Editor, and to such task committees as deemed necessary to assist in the administration of the Section.

**6.7.2.3** *Humphrey Fund Trustee Appointments.* The President, with the approval of the Section Board, shall annually appoint the three Appointed Trustees of the Richard L. Humphrey Memorial Fund.

**6.7.2.4** *Planning Committees.* The President shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's standing planning committees including the Nominating Committee.

**6.7.3** *President-Elect.* The President-Elect shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's General Membership Meetings, Government Affairs, and Social Committees. The President-Elect is also responsible for any other such duties as may be requested by the President.

## 6.7.4 Vice President

**6.7.4.1** *General.* The Vice President shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's Professional Development standing committee, Institutes, and technical groups, and for performing such other duties as may be requested by the President.

**6.7.4.2** Audit Committee Appointments. The Vice President, with the approval of the Section Board, shall appoint a Committee to audit the accounts of the Treasurer and of the Board of Trustees of the Richard L. Humphrey Memorial Fund at the end of each fiscal year, in accordance with Society policy. and at such other times as may seem desirable.

## 6.7.5 Secretary

**6.7.5.1** *General.* The Secretary, under the direction of the Section Board and the President, shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of the Section. The Secretary shall keep the records of the Section and conduct the correspondence. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Section Board, and shall perform such other duties pertaining to the business of the Section as may be assigned by the President or the Section Board and shall prepare the agenda for such meetings and keep the minutes of them. The Secretary, with the approval of the Section Board, may appoint an Assistant Secretary.

**6.7.5.2** *Communications Committees.* The Secretary shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's standing communications committees, including the Newsletter, Website, Email, and Public Relations Committees.

# 6.7.6 Treasurer

**6.7.6.1** *General.* The Treasurer shall collect all dues and shall deposit them in the name of the Section in a depository to be approved by the Section Board. The Treasurer, or the Secretary (if the Treasurer is unavailable), shall certify to the correctness of all bills and shall pay same when an appropriation has been made by the Section Board or when approved by the President. The Treasurer shall render statements of accounts with vouchers for all payments to the Section Board at such times as it may designate. All financial assets of the Section shall be audited annually. The fiscal year shall be from October 1 to September 30. The Treasurer with the approval of the Section Board may appoint an Assistant Treasurer.

**6.7.6.2** *Financial Committees.* The Treasurer shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's standing financial committees including the Budget and Sponsorship Committees.

## 6.7.7 *Membership* Secretary

**6.7.7.1** General. The Membership Secretary shall contact new members, graduating students from local colleges, and members being dropped from the Society for non-

payment of dues, with the objective of encouraging their continued membership in American Society of Civil Engineers and Section activities.

**6.7.7.2** *Membership Committees.* The Membership Secretary shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's standing membership committees, including the Awards, History and Heritage, and Scholarships Committees.

## 6.7.8 Directors

**6.7.8.1** *General.* The Directors shall be responsible for attending all Section Board meetings, serving on at least two (2) standing committees or chairing one (1) standing committee, and performing such other duties as may be requested by the President.

**6.7.8.2** *Outreach Committees.* The Directors shall be responsible for coordination between the Board of Directors and the Section's outreach committees including the College Student Outreach, Pre-College Outreach, and Community Outreach Committees.

**6.8** Removal from Office. Any Officer who does not attend three consecutive meetings of the Board will be automatically removed from the Board as of the conclusion of the third meeting, unless retained by the majority vote of the Board before the conclusion of such meeting.

# ARTICLE 7: Elections

**7.1** Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall be responsible for annually proposing a list of nominees for elective offices provided for in the Constitution, and for any offices with vacancies to be filled as set forth in these Bylaws. The Nominating Committee shall consist of no fewer than five (5) Subscribing Members of the Philadelphia Section who are appointed by the President at the November meeting and are willing to serve.

**7.2** *List of Proposed Nominees.* The Nominating Committee shall prepare a list of nominees for elective offices provided for in the Constitution, and for any offices with vacancies to be filled as set forth in these Bylaws, and shall deliver it to the Secretary not later than February 20. The Secretary shall inform the membership of the nominations by March 15 by its regular means of communication and announce the proposed slate at the March meeting of the Section.

**7.3** Additional Nominations. Additional nominations to be included in the ballot must be endorsed by petition of at least ten (10) Subscribing Members and filed with the Secretary not later than April 1.

**7.4** *Voting.* If additional nominations are received, the Subscribing Members shall be notified of the nominations not later than April 15 by the Philadelphia Section's regular means of communication. Votes will be canvassed at the annual meeting by three tellers, to be appointed by the President among the Subscribing Members. Absentee ballots must be received before the Section's Annual Meeting in order to be included in the tally. The result of the election shall be announced at the Annual Meeting. For each office, the candidate receiving the highest number of votes cast shall be declared elected.

**7.5** *President-Elect.* The President-Elect, when elected, shall be deemed elected as President for the succeeding year if willing and able under these Bylaws to accept the office of President at the completion of the Section Year as President-Elect. If the President-Elect is unable or unwilling to accept the position of President, a new President and President-Elect shall be elected at the Annual Meeting.

## Article 8: Meetings

#### **8.1** *Membership Meetings*

**8.1.1** *General.* The Section shall hold regular monthly meetings from September to May, inclusive, as determined by the Section Board, and special meetings as provided in the Constitution. Such regular monthly meetings or special meetings may be held anywhere in the local Section area. Up to two regular meetings per year may be canceled upon a majority vote of the Section Board. Up to two regular meetings per year may be held outside of the local Section area, with the provision that such meetings must be separated by at least one regular meeting within the local Section area. A regular monthly meeting may be combined with the Annual Meeting.

**8.1.2** *Quorum at Section Meeting.* A minimum of twenty (20) Subscribing Members shall constitute a quorum for transacting business at a meeting of the Philadelphia Section.

**8.1.3** Location of Membership Meetings. No business requiring a vote of the Section Membership shall be held at a regular monthly meeting held outside of the local Section area.

**8.1.4** *Annual Meeting.* The Annual Meeting of the Philadelphia Section shall be held on such date and location (within the area of the Section) as may be selected by the Section Board.

## **8.2** Board of Directors Meetings

**8.2.1** *Quorum at Board of Directors Meeting.* A majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Board of Directors. A quorum shall include at least one Officer and at least one Section Director. If two or more Offices are held by one person, such person shall be counted as only one Officer for purposes of a quorum.

**8.2.2** Location of Board of Directors Meetings. Meetings of the Section Board shall be held within the local Section area.

**8.3** *Parliamentary Authority.* All business meetings of the Philadelphia Section and subsidiary organizations and meetings of the Section Board shall be governed by Roberts's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, except where these rules are not applicable or are inconsistent with the Constitution and the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Section or the Society's governing documents.

## **Article 9: Subsidiary Organizations and Committees**

## **9.1** Subsidiary Organizations.

**9.1.1** *Types of Subsidiary Organizations.* The Philadelphia Section Board of Directors may establish such subsidiary organizations as it deems appropriate. Subsidiary organizations may include, but are not limited to, Branches, Younger Member Forums/Groups, Technical Groups, and local Institute Chapters. Names of subsidiary organizations shall be as set forth in the Society's governing documents. <u>Assets of any subsidiary organization shall be deemed to be assets of the Section.</u>

**9.1.2** *Formation.* Formation of subsidiary organizations shall be subject to the approval of the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors and such other requirements as may be established by the Society. Formation of Branches shall also be subject to the approval of the Region Board of Governors. Bylaws of subsidiary organizations shall be approved by the Section Board before becoming effective.

## 9.1.3 Rights and Requirements

**9.1.3.1** *Rights.* Subsidiary Organizations may elect their own officers, hold their own meetings and manage their own finances, subject to such rules and regulations as the Board of Directors may prescribe.

**9.1.3.2** Annual Report. Each Subsidiary Organization shall submit an annual written report to the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors on or before the first day of September on the activities and programs of the organization. This Annual Report, including a financial statement, shall be suitable for incorporation into the Philadelphia Section's annual tax reporting.

**9.1.3.3** Annual Budget. Each Subsidiary Organization shall submit an annual budget and financial statement to the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors on or before the first day of September, for approval.

**9.1.3.4** *Termination.* A Subsidiary Organization that fails to submit annual activities and financial reports by the prescribed date shall be considered inactive until the overdue reports are submitted. The Board of Directors may cease the activities of a Subsidiary Organization upon two-thirds (2/3) vote by the Board of Directors, provided that notice of such vote is given to the Chair of the Subsidiary Organization at least thirty (30) days in advance. Upon termination and payment of outstanding debts, all revenues will be returned to the Section Treasurer.

**9.1.4** *Branches.* The following Branches are part of the Philadelphia Section: Reading Branch. Additional branches of the Section may be created as set forth herein.

**9.1.4.1** *Proposal.* A new Branch may be proposed by submission of a written proposal to the Section Board of Directors with the name, objective, officers, and brief comments on how the new Branch will be of advantage to members in the area.

**9.1.4.2** *Petition.* The written proposal, along with a petition containing a minimum of fifteen (15) signatures of Subscribing Members residing in the area shall be submitted to the Section Board of Directors for approval.

**9.1.4.3** *Membership.* A proposed Branch area shall contain a minimum potential of thirty (30) members of the Society.

**9.1.4.4** Boundaries. A proposed Branch must have distinct boundaries by Zip Codes stated in the petition. All Assigned Members of the Philadelphia Section of all grades whose addresses are within the boundaries of such branches shall be deemed to be members of the local branches, provided that members who do not pay the dues thereof shall have no voice or part in the governance of the branches. Any Section Member who applies for membership in a local branch and pays any dues thereof shall be considered a Member of such Branch.

**9.1.4.5** *Region Approval.* Upon Philadelphia Section Board of Directors' approval, the proposal and petition shall be submitted to the Region Board of Governors for review and final approval.

**9.1.4.6** *Section Funding.* The Section Board may annually assign to each local Branch such sum or sums as the Section Board shall deem proper.

**9.1.4.7** Section Board. The President of each Branch, as determined by the Branch's Bylaws, shall serve as a member of the Section Board of Directors and shall be subject to the responsibilities thereof.

**9.1.4.8** *Termination.* Any Branch that loses its effectiveness because of inactivity, low membership, or rearrangement of boundaries, or for other cause shown, may be disbanded by the Section Board.

**9.1.4.9** *Dissolution*. Upon dissolution of the Branch, the assets remaining after the payment of the debts of the Branch shall be assumed by the Section.

**9.1.5** *Technical Groups and Institute Chapters.* The following Technical Groups and Institutes are part of the Philadelphia Section: Delaware Valley Geo-Institute. Additional Technical Groups or local Institute Chapters may be formed as set forth herein.

**9.1.5.1** *Proposal.* A new Technical Group or local Institute Chapter shall be proposed by submission of a written proposal to the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors with the name, objectives, officers, and brief comments on how the new Technical Group or local Institute Chapter will be of advantage to members in the area.

**9.1.5.2** *Purpose.* The purpose of the Technical Groups and Institute Chapters is to advance the art and science of civil engineering in specialized areas of interest through the medium of special seminars, symposiums and other projects sponsored by these groups and chapters. Where appropriate, meetings shall be sponsored jointly with other professional societies and organizations desiring to cooperate.

**9.1.5.3** *Membership.* A proposed Technical Group or Institute Chapter shall contain a minimum potential of thirty (30) members of the Society.

**9.1.5.4** *Approval.* Approval must be obtained from the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors to activate the Technical Group or Institute Chapter. Approval shall be obtained from the appropriate Institute to activate the Institute Chapter.

**9.1.5.5** Section Funding. The Section Board may annually assign to each Technical Group or Institute a sum or sums as the Section Board shall deem proper.

**9.1.5.6** Section Board. A representative of each Technical Group or Institute shall attend meetings of the Section Board; however, this representative will not be a voting member of the Section Board.

**9.1.5.7** *Termination.* Any Technical Group or Institute which loses its effectiveness, because of inactivity, low membership, or rearrangement of boundaries, or for other cause shown, or because of rearrangement of boundaries, may be disbanded by the Section Board.

**9.1.5.8** *Dissolution.* Upon dissolution of the Technical Group or Institute, the assets remaining after the payment of the debts of the Technical Group or Institute shall be assumed by the Section.

**9.1.6** Younger Member Forums and Student Chapters. Younger Member Forums or Student Chapters shall be created in accordance with the following requirements.

**9.1.6.1** *Membership.* If a Younger Member Forum or Student Chapter of the Section is formed as a subsidiary organization of the section, all Younger or Student Members, meeting the residential or enrollment criteria, respectively, of such Younger Member Forum or Student Chapter shall be members thereof.

**9.1.6.2** *Officers.* Only Younger Members who are Subscribing Members of the Section shall be permitted to hold office in the Younger Member Forum.

**9.1.6.3** Section Funding. The Section Board may annually assign to the Younger Member Forum such sum as the Section Board shall deem proper.

**9.1.6.4** Section Board. A representative of the Younger Member Forum, as determined by the Younger Member Forum Bylaws, shall attend meetings of the Section Board; however, this representative will not be a voting member of the Section Board.

**9.1.6.5** *Termination.* If the Younger Member Forum loses its effectiveness because of inactivity, low membership, or, rearrangement of boundaries, or for other cause shown, it may be disbanded by the Section Board.

**9.1.6.6** *Dissolution.* Upon dissolution of the Younger Member Forum, the assets remaining after the payment of the debts of the Younger Member Forum shall be assumed by the Section.

**9.2** *Standing Committees.* The Philadelphia Section shall have such standing committees as set forth in this section.

## 9.2.1 Planning Committees

**9.2.1.1** *Nominating Committee.* The Nominating Committee shall consist of no fewer than five (5) Subscribing Members of the Philadelphia Section who are appointed by the President at the November meeting and are willing to serve. The Nominating Committee shall be responsible for proposing a slate of officers as detailed in Article 7.

## **9.2.2** *Programming Committees*

**9.2.2.1** *General Membership Meetings Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for planning, organizing, and executing the monthly Philadelphia Section meetings.

**9.2.2.2** Government Affairs Committee. This committee shall be responsible for organizing events that engage local, state, and federal government officials.

**9.2.2.3** *Social Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for organizing events and activities that promote social and networking activities amongst members.

## 9.2.3 Finance Committees

**9.2.3.1** *Budget Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for developing an annual budget for approval by the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors by September 30 of each year.

**9.2.3.2** *Sponsorship Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for developing a sponsorship program and soliciting paid sponsors for the Philadelphia Section.

**9.2.3.3** Audit Committee. This committee shall be responsible for auditing the accounts of the Treasurer and the Board of Trustees of the Richard L. Humphrey Memorial Fund at the end of each fiscal year, in accordance with Society policy, and at such other times as may seem desirable.

**9.2.4** *Communications Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for creating and distributing the Philadelphia Section newsletter. The President will annually appoint a Newsletter Editor. This committee shall be responsible for maintenance and upgrades to the Section website and related information technology resources. This committee shall be responsible for managing email communications to the membership. This committee shall be responsible for promoting and publicizing civil engineers, the Society, and the Philadelphia Section within the boundaries of the Philadelphia Section.

## **9.2.5** *Membership Committees*

**9.2.5.1** *Awards Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for soliciting and evaluating nominations for the Annual Awards of the Philadelphia Section which include:

- Civil Engineer of the Year
- Young Civil Engineer of the Year
- Government Engineer of the Year
- Young Government Engineer of the Year
- Government Service Award
- Educator of the Year
- History and Heritage Award
- Civil Engineering Manager of the Year
- Construction Engineer of the Year
- Geotechnical Engineer of the Year
- Structural Engineer of the Year
- Transportation Engineer of the Year
- Water Resources Engineer of the Year

At the discretion of the Awards Committee, and with the approval of the Board, not all categories will be awarded each year. In addition, the President of the Philadelphia Section may present a President's Award at his/her discretion.

**9.2.5.2** *History and Heritage Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for organizing activities and events that highlight the history and heritage of civil engineering and ASCE within the boundaries of the Philadelphia Section.

**9.2.5.3** Scholarships Committee. This committee shall be responsible for soliciting and evaluation of nominations for any scholarships sponsored by the Philadelphia Section. The application guidelines and selection criteria shall be determined by the committee. The amount of each scholarship shall be determined by the Budget Committee.

**9.2.5.4** *Membership Database Chair.* The President will annually appoint a Membership Database Chair to be on file with the Society. The Membership Database Chair assumes the responsibility for proper use and distribution of the information contained in the database, as stipulated in the Society's rules.

**9.2.6** *Outreach Committee.* This committee shall be responsible for 1) maintaining a current list of local Student Chapter contacts including President, Faculty Advisor, and Practitioner Advisor, 2) communicating relevant Section events and information to the Student Chapters, and 3) organizing outreach events with the Student Chapters. This committee shall be responsible for developing and implementing a program of outreach to students in grades K-12 to promote civil engineering and ASCE. This committee shall be responsible for developing and implementing a program of outreach to the general public to promote civil engineering and ASCE.

**9.2.7** *Terms of Standing Committee Members.* Unless otherwise specified, the members and chairs of committees shall be appointed by the Section President at the beginning of the Philadelphia Section President's term, and shall serve a one (1) year term that is concurrent with the term of the Board of Directors. Unless otherwise specified, all standing committees shall consist of not less than three (3) members.

**9.3.** *Task Committees.* The President may appoint task committees (aka, *ad hoc* committees) as deemed necessary. The terms of Task Committee members shall end at the end of the term of the President or at the end of the task.

## 9.4 Richard L. Humphrey Memorial Fund Board of Trustees

**9.4.1** *Terms.* Appointed Trustees shall serve a term of office of one (1) year. In the event of a resignation or removal of a Trustee, the Philadelphia Section Board of Directors shall appoint a replacement Trustee for the remainder of the year.

**9.4.2** Selection of Trustee Chairperson. The Board of Trustees shall elect amongst themselves a Chairperson and a Secretary-Treasurer. No person shall be Chairperson for more than three consecutive years. Neither the President of the Section nor the Secretary of the Section shall be the Secretary-Treasurer of the Board of Trustees.

**9.4.3** *Frequency of Meetings.* The Board of Trustees shall have Regular Meetings quarterly at the direction of the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees. The Chairperson of the Board of Trustees shall give at least fifteen days notice of such a meeting. Attendance of such meetings is mandatory of the three appointed Trustees, except for good cause.

**9.4.4** *Emergency Meetings.* The Board of Trustees shall meet whenever an Emergency Meeting is called by their Chairperson or by the Secretary of the Section with or without prior notice. An Emergency Meeting shall be called to discuss investment issues and not for discussion of distribution issues. Attendance at such meetings shall be mandatory of the three Appointed Trustees except for good cause.

**9.4.5** Special Meetings. The Board of Trustees shall meet whenever a Special Meeting is called by the Secretary of the Section. The Secretary of the Section Shall give at least fifteen days notice of such meetings. The Secretary of the Section shall call upon the Board of Trustees to meet only if directed to do so by the Section Board of Directors. Attendance of such meetings shall be mandatory of the Appointed Trustees except for good cause.

**9.4.6** Modes of Communication. Regular, Emergency, and Special Meetings may be held by a physical meeting of the Trustees, by a telephone or web conference of the Trustees, or by a combination of physical meeting and telephone/web conference.

**9.4.7** Requests for Disbursement of Funds. A two-thirds (2/3) majority of the Section Board of Directors, after all members have been given written/email notification of such vote, a minimum of seven (7) days in advance, may request a disbursement of funds from the permanent funds. Upon request from the Section Board of Directors for a disbursement of funds, the Board of Trustees shall, within thirty (30) days, review such request against the stated purpose of the Richard L. Humphrey Memorial Fund and either approve and render

such disbursement or state their reasons for opposition thereto. The Board of Trustees, however, shall make every effort to approve such disbursements. The Board of Trustees shall approve loans to the Philadelphia Section up to the amount of dues and allocation collected and paid to the Philadelphia Section by the Society during the past Section Year but not yet received by the Philadelphia Section from the Society during the current Section Year, less any loans previously made from the permanent funds which have not been repaid.

**9.4.8** Quarterly Reports. The Secretary-Treasurer of the Board of Trustees, shall quarterly provide a report of the Board of Trustees to the Section Board of Directors or to the President of the Section. The report shall include a statement of the assets of the Permanent Fund, and the pendency of any request for disbursement. The Chairperson of the Board of Trustees shall be responsible for assuring that such a report is prepared and submitted.

**9.4.9** Additional Duties. The Section Board of Directors may, from time to time, provide for additional duties for the Board of Trustees, by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Section Board of Directors. No additional duties, however, shall become mandatory of Appointed Trustees during their term of office.

# Article 10: Administrative Provisions Not used.

# Article 11: Amendments

**11.1** *Process.* These Bylaws may be amended only by the following procedure:

**11.1.1** *Proposal.* An amendment to these Bylaws may be proposed by any member of the Board of Directors, or by written petition submitted to the Section Secretary, containing the text of the amendment, signed by not less than ten (10) Subscribing Members of the Section.

**11.1.2** *Approval.* The proposed Bylaws amendment(s) shall be approved by not less than a majority of the Board of Directors and submitted to the Society's Committee on Geographic Units for review and approval.

**11.1.3** Notice and Adoption. Upon approval by the Committee on Geographic Units, the proposed Bylaws amendment(s) may, by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Section Board of Directors present at a meeting duly called, amend the Bylaws consistent with the Constitution, provided that a written notice of such proposed amendment has been given at the previous meeting of the Section Board of Directors, that the Secretary has provided a copy of such proposed amendment to each member of the Section Board of Directors by the regular means of communication at least fifteen (15) days before the meeting at which action is to be taken and that the President or Chairperson of the meeting has called for a quorum count immediately prior to such vote and has permitted such vote only if a quorum is present.